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October 7, 2024 
 
TO:  Commissioners   
 
FROM:  Holly O. Whatley, Commission Counsel   
   
SUBJECT:  Consideration  and  Possible Approval  of  Seventh Amendment  to  Executive 

Officer’s Employment Contract, Including Salary Adjustment 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 

The Commission conducts an annual performance evaluation of its Executive Officer, Keene 
Simonds and typically during its October meeting. As part of this evaluation, the Commission 
may propose amendments  to  the Executive Officer’s employment contract. The Executive 
Officer  Compensation  Committee  recommends  an  amendment  to  increase  the  Executive 
Officer’s annual salary. Please find the proposed amendment attached as Exhibit A. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
Section 11 of the Employment Agreement Between the San Diego Local Agency Formation 
Commission  and  Keene  Simonds,  dated  September  11,  2017  (“Agreement”)  requires  the 
Commission to evaluate the Executive Officer’s (“EO”) performance at least once annually. 
The Agreement is an attachment to Exhibit A, the proposed amendment. 
 
Under  Section  6.20  of  the  LAFCO  Personnel  Rules,  the  Commission  may  consider  an 
adjustment of  the Executive Director’s current salary dependent on  the EO Compensation 
Committee’s performance evaluation and recommendation.  
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The EO’s current salary is $230,505 which includes the recent 2.75% cost‐of‐living adjustment 
provided  to  all  employees.    The  established  salary  range  for  the  position  is  $147,805  to 
$262,163.   For context, Attachment B  is a chart of  the current LAFCO salaries of Executive 
Officers  for  LAFCOs  in  the  Southern  California  Region  and  reflects  an  average  salary  is 
$233,932. 
 
The EO Compensation Committee consists of Chair Whitburn, Vice‐Chair Willis and the most 
immediate past chair, Commissioner Desmond.  The Committee met on September 27, 2024, 
as part of the Executive Officer’s annual performance review process and recommends the 
Commission consider a salary  increase commensurate with the EO’s overall recommended 
performance rating level of “outstanding.” 
 
FISCAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The changes to salary and benefits provided by this amendment are within existing budget 
appropriations. 
 
ALTERNATIVES FOR ACTION 
 
The Commission may refuse to approve the amendment, request changes to the amendment, 
or give other appropriate direction on this subject. 
 
Respectfully,  
 

 
Holly O. Whatley,  
Commission Counsel 
 
 
Attachments:  
 

1) Proposed Seventh Amendment to Employment Agreement (including attached original agreement) 
2) Chart of Comparative EO Salaries in Southern California Region 
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SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

RECITAL 

On October 2, 2023, the San Diego Local Agency Formation Commission approved 

amending the Employment Agreement Between the San Diego Local Agency Formation 

Commission (hereafter “LAFCO”) and Keene Simonds (“Executive Officer”) dated 

September 11, 2017 (“Employment Agreement”), attached as Exhibit A.  The 

Employment Agreement has been amended six times.  This Seventh Amendment 

followed the Executive Officer’s annual performance review and is made as permitted 

by Paragraph 19 of the Employment Agreement. The Parties agree as follows: 

AMENDMENT 

1. Paragraph 4 (“Compensation”), subparagraph “A” is hereby amended in its

entirety to read as follows:

A. Effective as of the first day of the first pay period following the Executive

Officer’s hiring anniversary date, September 11, 2024, the Executive Officer’s

annual salary shall be $_________ and as otherwise provided in section 6.20 of

LAFCO’s Personnel Rules (“Rules”).

2. All other recitals, paragraphs, subparagraphs and clauses of the Employment

Agreement and the Vacation Leave amendment in the First Amendment to

Employment Agreement remain unchanged by this Sixth Amendment to Employment

Agreement.

EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

Dated:  

Keene Simonds 

LAFCO 

Dated:  

Stephen Whitburn, Chair 
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Approved as to form: 

 

 

   

Holly O. Whatley 

General Counsel 

 

 

 

 

 

Dated:    

Attest:  

 

 

   

Erica Sellen 

LAFCO Clerk 

 

 

 

Dated:    

 
 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 





















Agenda Item No. 8d | Attachment Two



Blank for Photocopying 


	10-7-24_AgendaItem8d_EOcompensation_Attachment1.pdf
	Seventh Amendment to Simonds Employment Agreement (10.7.2024 meeting).pdf
	Pages from 10223_AgendaItem7c_EO Com.pdf




